**RECEIVED**

**Oct 09 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Colleton County  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2021-CP-15-00657  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001242

---

Jennifer Rahn,  
as Personal Representative for the Estate of Robert Ramsey,

Respondent,

v.

Priority Home Care, LLC and  
St. George Health Care, LLC, d/b/a St. George Healthcare Center,

Defendants,

Of which St. George Health Care, LLC, d/b/a  
St. George Healthcare Center is the

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP  
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s<sup>1</sup> motion to compel Plaintiff’s<sup>2</sup> claims to arbitration?<sup>3</sup>**
- A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that, because Mr. Ramsey effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, he, and, in turn, Plaintiff (his estate), is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?**
- (1) Did the circuit court misapprehend the nature of the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument?**
- (2) Is the circuit court’s merger analysis erroneous?**
- (a) Is this Court’s merger analysis in *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*,<sup>4</sup> erroneous?**
- (3) Is the circuit court’s equitable estoppel analysis erroneous?**
- (4) Did the circuit court violate the FAA’s “equal footing” rule by charging the Facility with a heightened duty to determine the existence Ms. Rahn’s authority that does not exist under South**

---

<sup>1</sup> The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant, St. George Health Care, LLC, d/b/a St. George Healthcare Center. It is a skilled nursing facility.

<sup>2</sup> “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Jennifer Rahn (“Ms. Rahn”) as personal representative of the Estate of Robert Ramsey. “Mr. Ramsey” refers to the decedent, Robert Ramsey.

<sup>3</sup> To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, this issue, and the corresponding argument, covers circuit court error in terms of both the denial of the Facility’s principal motion and the denial of the Facility’s motion to alter, amend, and/or reconsider the denial of its principal motion.

<sup>4</sup> Op. No. 5963 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 25, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 4 at 21).

**Carolina’s general contract law and, at the same time, disregarding applicable state law in respect of the legal significance of Ms. Rahn’s act of signing the Arbitration Agreement and her duty of good faith and fair dealing?**

**(5) Did the circuit court err in asserting that, at most, the Arbitration Agreement would be enforceable as to the survival claim and would not be enforceable as to the wrongful death claim?**

**B. At a minimum, should the circuit court have granted the Facility’s alternative request for permission to conduct limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability under an agency theory?**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

With the help of Ms. Rahn, his daughter, Mr. Ramsey was admitted as a resident of the Facility in August 2019. Ms. Rahn handled the paperwork in conjunction with Mr. Ramsey’s admission, and in so doing, she signed an Admission Agreement<sup>5</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>6</sup> on his behalf.

---

<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 90–101.)

<sup>6</sup> (R. p. 50.) Without question, the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–16 (the “FAA”), applies to the Arbitration Agreement. For one reason, the Arbitration Agreement expressly states that the FAA applies (R. p. 50), and this must be enforced like any other contract term. *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 430 S.C. 188, 196, 844 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2020) (“We first consider whether the FAA applies. We hold it does, for two reasons. First, the [subject contract] provides the parties ‘specifically agree that this transaction involves interstate commerce.’ We must enforce this agreement like any other contract term.”) (citing *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363–64 (2001) (finding the FAA applied because the parties had agreed that the subject contract involved interstate commerce)). Moreover, and in any event, the FAA applies “to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at

Plaintiff commenced this wrongful death and survival action against the Facility in the Colleton County Court of Common Pleas on November 4, 2021, based on allegedly deficient care/treatment Mr. Ramsey received during his residency at the Facility. (R. pp. 17–25.)<sup>7</sup> The Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint on December 15, 2021, denying the alleged liability, raising a number of affirmative defenses, and expressly reserving its right to compel arbitration. (R. pp. 26–31.)

On March 7, 2022, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims against it to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement that Ms. Rahn signed on behalf of Mr. Ramsey in conjunction with his admission (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 47–50, 58–101.)<sup>8</sup>

---

363; *see also Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 268 (1995) (holding that the reach of the FAA extends to the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’s power under the Commerce Clause); *id.* at 273–77 (1995) (explaining that unless the parties specifically contract otherwise, the FAA applies whenever an arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce). And our Supreme Court has expressly held that skilled nursing facility admission agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381–82, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732–33 (2014).

<sup>7</sup> As the above caption reflects, Priority Home Care, LLC, is also a defendant in the case, but it is not a party to this appeal.

<sup>8</sup> Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 50 (“[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Ramsey’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Ramsey], including but not limited to . . . .”).) This plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility, but even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration . . . .” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also*

Following a hearing on May 19, 2022, the circuit court, the Honorable Bentley D. Price presiding, denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order directed filed June 29, 2022. (R. pp. 1–13, 32–46.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, on July 11, 2022, the Facility timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 289–311.) The circuit court denied the motion by order filed August 3, 2022. (R. pp. 14–16.)

By notice served and filed September 2, 2022, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 315–321.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the

---

*Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”).

ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.**

**A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument. More specifically, the circuit court should have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that, because Mr. Ramsey effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, he, and, in turn, Plaintiff (his estate), is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.**

**(1) The circuit court misapprehended the nature of the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument.**

As evidenced by the language of its order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration,<sup>9</sup> the circuit court failed to appreciate that the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument that does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Ms. Rahn or otherwise on the

---

<sup>9</sup> (*See* R. p. 2 (“The basis of [the Facility’s] Motion is that a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement exists between the parties.”); R. p. 5 (“Since Ms. Rahn lacked legal authority, the Arbitration Agreement is void and unenforceable.”); R. p. 3 (“[T]he Court must determine (1) if the Arbitration Agreement merged with and was a part of the Admission Agreement such that Plaintiff in her capacity as personal representative would be equitably estopped from denying the Arbitration Agreement’s validity, and (2) if Ms. Rahn had actual or apparent authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of [Mr. Ramsey].”).)

existence of any valid and enforceable agreement between the parties. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including . . . estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining that “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is *not* an argument *for the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement *but rather* an argument *for Mr. Ramsey, and, in turn, Plaintiff (his estate), to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Mr. Ramsey having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, his estate is now estopped to deny the enforceability not only of the Admission Agreement but also the Arbitration

Agreement merged therewith. And by its very nature, i.e., because the Facility's argument in favor of direct benefits estoppel is based on the direct benefits Mr. Ramsey received under the Admission Agreement (with which the Arbitration merged), this argument applies with equal force to estop Plaintiff, i.e., Mr. Ramsey's estate, from denying the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

Accordingly, as to the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument, any contrary analysis regarding the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement's supposed lack of enforceability—e.g., that Ms. Rahn lacked authority to sign the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Mr. Ramsey under the law of agency<sup>10</sup> and/or under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act (the "AHCCA"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80,<sup>11</sup> and/or because Ms. Rahn lacked power of attorney or guardianship over Mr. Ramsey<sup>12</sup>—is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but whether Mr. Ramsey, and, in turn, Plaintiff (his estate), is estopped to deny its enforceability.

---

<sup>10</sup> (See R. pp. 8–9 (regarding principles of agency).)

<sup>11</sup> (See R. pp. 2–6, 8–9 (regarding the AHCCA).)

<sup>12</sup> (See R. pp. 2, 5–8 (regarding power of attorney and guardianship).)

**(2) The circuit court’s merger analysis is erroneous.**

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down’Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

*Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The circuit court wrongfully concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contacts that do not merge. (R. pp. 4, 8–9.) The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>13</sup> as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>14</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of

---

<sup>13</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

<sup>14</sup> To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

Unlike the arbitration agreement at issue in *Coleman*—and, for that matter, the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*’s progeny *Thompson* and *Hodge*, all of which cases involved arbitration agreements that contained a provision allowing them to be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of signing while the corresponding

admission agreements did not—the instant Arbitration Agreement has no disclaimer/revocation provision. (R. p. 50.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 101.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court<sup>15</sup>), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating the lack of its own supposed “separatedness.” (R. p. 101.) Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among these other materials. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her admission*, including an *Arbitration Agreement* and an *Admission Agreement.*”)

---

<sup>15</sup> 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

(emphasis added)). The circuit court’s conclusory finding that there is ambiguity in this regard<sup>16</sup> is unsupported and erroneous.

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required as a precondition of Mr. Ramsey’s residency at the Facility. But all this means is that the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become part of the admissions materials once it was in fact executed. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

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