**RECEIVED**

**Oct 09 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Colleton County  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2021-CP-15-00657  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001242

---

Jennifer Rahn, as Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Robert Ramsey.....Respondent,

v.

Priority Home Care, LLC and  
St. George Health Care, LLC d/b/a St. George Healthcare Center.....Defendants,

Of which St. George Health Care, LLC, d/b/a St. George  
Healthcare Center is .....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP  
Lee D. Cope  
John E. Parker, Jr.

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

**IV. The wrongful death beneficiaries’ claims do not belong to the Estate.**

The Court need not reach this issue as the previously addressed issues are dispositive to the resolution of this Appeal. However, even if a resident's estate was estopped from denying the validity of a facility's arbitration agreement, or if the arbitration agreement was valid, the wrongful death claims of the statutory beneficiaries would not strictly as a matter of law be subject to arbitration. South Carolina law is very clear that wrongful death claims belong to the statutory beneficiaries and are distinct and separate from survival claims belonging to the estate. *Bennett v. Spartanburg Ry. Gas and Elec. Co.*, 97 S.C. 27, 81 S.E. 189, 190 (1914). Wrongful death actions are brought by the personal representative of the decedent directly for the benefit of the statutory beneficiaries and include pecuniary loss, mental shock and suffering, grief and sorrow, and loss of companionship: all losses suffered by the beneficiaries themselves. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-51-10 and -20; *Self v. Goodrich*, 300 S.C. 349, 351, 387 S.E.2d 713, 714 (Ct. App. 1989). Survival actions, on the other hand, are separate claims for separate injuries, and belong to the estate, not the statutory beneficiaries. *See Bennett*, 97 S.C. at 27, 81 S.E. at 189-90.

The Facility argues that the wrongful death claims actually belong to the personal representative of an estate and not the statutory beneficiaries, and that the wrongful death claim is derivative of claims belonging to the decedent; ergo, a personal representative would have authority to waive jury trial rights belonging to all statutory beneficiaries. This argument mistakenly conflates the wrongful death

claim and survival claims.<sup>10</sup> The history and development of South Carolina's wrongful death and survival statutes show that wrongful death is something entirely different from the survival of tort claims after an individual's death. South Carolina courts have long recognized that these are two disparate theories of liability with distinct origins, purposes, and results. *See Grainger v. Greenville, S. & A. Ry. Co.*, 101 S.C. 399, 85 S.E. 968, 969 (1915). The statutory scheme shows wrongful death and survival are distinct claims accruing at different times and are governed by different statutes of limitation. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-560(6).

Wrongful death claims are often erroneously perceived as derivative of survival claims. In both types of claims, the decedent's personal representative is the named plaintiff. *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Bass*, 229 S.C. 607, 612, 93 S.E.2d 912, 914 (1956). However, this fact alone is not determinative of any derivative nature the wrongful death claim may have. When asserting wrongful death and survival claims, a personal representative "function[s] under two separate and distinct trusteeships." *Id.* In other words, while it is the personal representative's name in the caption for a wrongful death claim, "it is clear . . . the real parties to the action were the beneficiaries." *Claussen v. Brothers*, 148 S.C. 1, 145 S.E. 539, 541 (1928).

In light of the history and structure of wrongful death and survival claims, a number of other reported opinions have rejected the notion that the former is derivative of the latter. As early as 1907, the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized a wrongful death action is not the survival of an action which the deceased

---

<sup>10</sup> Rahn was obviously not personal representative of the Estate at the time she executed the arbitration agreement.

had in his lifetime, but is a "new cause of action." *Osteen v. Southern Ry., Carolina Division*, 76 S.C. 368, 57 S.E. 196, 200 (1907). *Claussen* held a wrongful death claim is "not a continuation" of any claim the decedent had before her death. *Claussen*, 145 S.E. at 540. And contrary to the Facility's assertion that wrongful death claims belong to the personal representative, *Claussen* states that "as has been pointed out, the party in whose favor the right of action in reality exists under Lord Campbell's Act is **not the personal representative of the deceased person.**" *Id.* at 541 (emphasis added).

A wrongful death claim is "independent" of claims the decedent had during his life and "wholly different" than any other claim available at his death. *Wellman v. Bethea*, 243 F. 222 (E.D.S.C. 1917); *In re Mayo's Estate*, 60 S.C. 401, 38 S.E. 634, 638 (1901). Wrongful death and survival claims are "separable and distinct." *Keel v. Seaboard Air Line Ry.*, 122 S.C. 17, 114 S.E. 761, 762 (1922). In sum, the Facility would mislead the Court into finding that a wrongful death claim is derivative of survival claims and belongs to the personal representative, despite the fact that "[t]he object, scope, and measure of damages" is different for the two claims. *In re Mayo's Estate*, 38 S.E. at 638.

South Carolina's appellate courts have held wrongful death claims are "distinct," "independent," "separate," "wholly different," and "not a continuation" of claims a decedent could have filed during his lifetime. The Facility does not address any of the extensive South Carolina law showing wrongful death as a distinct, independent claim that solely belongs to the statutory beneficiaries. Instead, the Facility cites to federal case law to suggest South Carolina courts have already held

that wrongful death is a derivative claim. None of the authorities the Facility cites support that conclusion and none squarely address the question now before the Court.

The Facility claims the Supreme Court of South Carolina addressed the arbitrability of wrongful death claims in *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014). However, *Dean* addressed a very different issue related to forum selection clauses. *See id.* at 382, 759 S.E.2d at 733 (finding the "outcome of this appeal turns" on effect of arbitral forum provision). Plus, *Dean* did not even compel arbitration in the case before it. The Facility relies on a sentence in one of *Dean's* footnotes but reads far too much into that sentence. *See id.* at 378 n.3, 759 S.E.2d at 731 n.3 ("We note that courts may not refuse to compel arbitration simply because a wrongful death claim is involved").

This footnote addressed an overly broad pronouncement in the appealed order suggesting wrongful death claims are categorically excluded from arbitration. *Id.* (citing circuit court order statement stating that "wrongful death actions are not something that's arbitrated"). That type of rule would violate the FAA's equal footing principle. *Id.* (citing *Marmet Health Care Ctr., Inc. v. Brown*, 565 U.S. 530, 532-33, 132 S. Ct. 1201, 1203-04, 182 L. Ed. 2d 42 (2012)); *see also Kindred Nursing Ctrs., Ltd. P'ship v. Clark*, 581 U.S. 246, 251, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1426, 197 L. Ed. 2d 806 (2017)). However, that is not the argument the Estate makes here. A wrongful death claim may be arbitrable in instances where the statutory beneficiaries agree to do so. Rahn simply argues an individual's consent to arbitrate may not be grafted into a wrongful

death claim that pays different people for different losses. *Dean* does not reject that argument or even consider it.

Moreover, the Facility incorrectly argues that the Circuit Court's Order violates the "equal footing" principle. Several other courts have held that rejecting arbitration for wrongful death claims in similar cases does not violate *Marmet* or any other Supreme Court precedent on the equal footing principle.<sup>11</sup> Refusing to compel arbitration here does not mean wrongful death claims can categorically never be arbitrated. Instead, as other courts have recognized, it simply means the Facility violated a generally applicable contract law rule by failing to prove it had consent for arbitration from all of the proper parties. Finally, reading *Dean's* footnote to have any bearing on the parties' dispute does not adequately account for either side's arguments on the key issue. *Dean* had no reason to undertake this analysis and has nothing to offer the Court in resolving this Appeal.

The Facility also asks the Court to declare wrongful death a "derivative" claim based essentially on one sentence in *South Carolina Jurisprudence* that has been cited in various authorities. However, the Facility fails to direct the Court to the most pertinent entry. In a chapter devoted to wrongful death claims, a section entitled "[s]eparate, independent cause of action" notes the existence of two claims at the

---

<sup>11</sup> See *Carter v. SSC Odin Operating Co., LLC*, 976 N.E.2d 344, 360 (Ill. 2012) (unlike *Marmet*, Illinois was not applying a categorical anti-arbitration rule but was rather applying "common law principles governing all contracts"); *Vickers v. Canal Pointe Nursing Home & Rehab Ctr.*, 2016-Ohio-3244, 2016 WL 3080329 (Ohio App. June 1, 2016) (finding that Ohio Supreme Court precedent preventing arbitration of wrongful death claims did not create a categorical ban that would run afoul of *Marmet* because it applied generally applicable contract law rule against enforcing contract against person who had not assented).

tortious death of a person and, crucially, "**the wrongful death action and the survival action involve different, independent claims.**" 28 S.C. Jur. *Wrongful Death* § 5 (emphasis added).

Finally, the Facility contends that, since S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-10 permits wrongful death claims only when the decedent would have had a claim if he survived, then the decedent, or the estate's personal representative, has the authority to waive the statutory beneficiaries' right to a jury trial, citing *Quattlebaum v. Carey Canada, Inc.*, 685 F. Supp. 939 (D.S.C. 1988) and *Estate of Stokes ex rel. Spell v. Pee Dee Family Physicians, L.L.P.*, 389 S.C. 343, 699 S.E.2d 143 (2010). However, *Quattlebaum* (and *Stokes*) did not address arbitration at all. Instead, they simply held that if an individual allows the statute of limitations on a personal injury claim to lapse during his life, then a wrongful death claim may not be used after his death to "revive" the stale claim. *Stokes*, 389 S.C. at 349, 699 S.E.2d at 146.

The statute of limitations is not at issue here and neither *Quattlebaum* nor *Stokes* have ever been cited as justification for binding nonsignatories to an arbitration contract. Plus, the legal authority holding that an individual may forfeit a wrongful death claim by ignoring or settling a personal injury suit during his life do not mean the individual, or someone acting on his behalf, may control the manner in which valid future wrongful death claims will be resolved. Several courts have made this distinction explicitly. Oklahoma, like South Carolina, bars a wrongful death suit if the decedent ended a personal injury claim during his lifetime based on the same wrongdoing. *Boler v. Sec. Health Care, L.L.C.*, 2014 OK 80, 336 P.3d 468,

477 (Okla. 2014) (citing *Haws v. Luethje*, 1972 OK 146, 503 P.2d 871 (Okla. 1972)). Even so, the court in *Boler* refused to apply a nursing home resident's arbitration contract to a wrongful death claim because doing so would violate contract principles requiring mutual assent. *Id.* at 471.

Pennsylvania also bars wrongful death claims if the decedent allowed his personal injury claim to lapse. *Pisano v. Extendicare Homes, Inc.*, 77 A.3d 651, 657 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2013) (citing *Moyer v. Rubright*, 651 A.2d 1139 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1994)). Yet, just like Oklahoma, Pennsylvania does not extrapolate from that rule the notion that an individual can bind other wrongful death beneficiaries to arbitration. *Pisano*, 77 A.3d at 657, 662 (refusing to find wrongful death beneficiaries lost jury trial right "where they did not waive it of their own accord"). Thus, *Quattlebaum's*, and by extension, *Stoke's*, interpretation of section 15-51-10 does not necessarily require arbitration in this case. Had Mr. Ramsey settled any claims against the Facility before his death, or if the statute of limitations had lapsed on his claim, the Estate could not now bring a wrongful death claim on behalf of the statutory beneficiaries. But it does not follow that theoretically Rahn in her individual capacity had the ability to direct the wrongful death claim to arbitration on behalf of any remaining wrongful death beneficiaries.<sup>12</sup> Since Mr. Ramsey had a viable dispute with the Facility when he died, any proposed arbitration of the wrongful death claim must

---

<sup>12</sup> Ancillary to this argument is the issue of whether there is sufficient consideration for a health care facility's arbitration agreement to bind a nonresident signing in their individual capacity, but this issue is not properly before the Court.

consider whether all beneficiaries agreed to waive a jury trial. In short, none of the authorities cited by the Facility support that a wrongful death claim is derivative.

In light of the historical and structural differences between South Carolina's wrongful death and survival statutes, and the remedies afforded by them, as well as substantial case law defining and treating wrongful death and survival claims distinctly, the Court should reject the Facility's attempt to use Rahn's purported assent to the arbitration agreement to force arbitration on any remaining wrongful death beneficiaries. At least a dozen other jurisdictions have rejected Appellants' argument. *See FutureCare NorthPoint, LLC v. Peeler*, 143 A.3d 191, 209-10, 213 (Md. App. 2016); *Taylor v. Extendicare Health Facilities, Inc.*, 147 A.3d 490, 494 n. 1 (Pa. 2016) (citing *Pisano v. Extendicare Homes, Inc.*, 77 A.3d 651, 660 (Pa. Super. 2013)); *Boler v. Sec. Health Care, LLC*, 336 P.3d 468, 477 (Okla. 2014); *Estate of Decamacho ex rel. Guthrie v. La Solana Care & Rehab, Inc.*, 316 P.3d 607, 614 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2014); *Daniels v. Sunrise Sr. Living, Inc.*, 212 Cal. App. 4th 674, 151 Cal. Rptr. 3d 273 (2013); *Carter v. SSC Odin Operating Co, LLC*, 976 N.E.2d 344, 355-58 (Ill. 2012); *Ping v. Beverly Enters., Inc.*, 376 S.W.3d 581 (Ky. 2012); *Woodall v. Avalon Care Center-Federal Way, LLC*, 231 P.3d 1252 (Wash. App. 2010); *Lawrence v. Beverly Manor*, 273 S.W.3d 525 (Mo. 2009); *Bybee v. Abdulla*, 189 P.3d 40 (Utah 2008); *Peters v. Columbus Steel Castings Co.*, 873 N.E.2d 1258, 1262 (Ohio 2007); *Chapman v. Cardiac Pacemakers, Inc.*, 673 P.2d 385 (Idaho 1983); *see also Strickholm v. Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Soc'y*, Case No. 4:11-CV-00059-BLW, 2011 WL 2532395 (D. Idaho June 24, 2011). At best, even if the arbitration agreement was

valid, or if the Estate was precluded from denying its validity, it would only reach the Estate's survival claims. However, since it is not valid, the Circuit Court could not compel arbitration of the wrongful death or survival claims in this action, and its Order should be affirmed.

V. **The issue of whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Facility's alternative request for discovery on the issue of agency is moot because the Facility has failed to challenge the Circuit Court's finding on the issue of agency and it is now the law of the case.**

The Facility lastly argues that at minimum the Circuit Court should have granted its request to conduct limited discovery on the issue of agency. This argument is moot. The Circuit Court in its Order found that Rahn did not have actual or apparent authority to enter the arbitration agreement. (R. pp. 3-5). The Facility did not challenge this finding in its Motion for Reconsideration, and it has not challenged this finding in its Brief. (R. pp. 289-311). Since the Facility has not challenged the Circuit Court's finding that Rahn did not have authority to enter the arbitration agreement, it has abandoned the issue, and it is now the law of the case that Rahn did not have authority. *See First Union Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (stating that an unchallenged ruling is the law of the case).

Since it is the law of the case that Rahn did not have authority to enter the arbitration agreement, if the Court were to reverse the Circuit Court's findings and remand the case, the Facility's request to have limited discovery on the issue of agency would be moot, because the Facility can no longer argue that the arbitration agreement is valid under an agency theory, so any discovery on the issue would not

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